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Part I: STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Respondent, Omar Ahmed Khadr,
 is a Canadian citizen
 detained by U.S. forces at U.S. Naval Base, Guantánamo Bay, Cuba (“GTMO”).
 In approximately June of 2002, the Respondent’s father, Ahmed Said Khadr, “dropped him off” with a group of militants in a village near Khost, Afghanistan when he was 15.
 The Respondent was taken prisoner following a military engagement between these militants and U.S. forces on July 27, 2002.
 It is alleged that in this engagement, the Respondent threw a grenade which killed Sgt. First Class Christopher Speer.
 The Respondent denies this allegation.

2. The Respondent was critically wounded during the engagement but received life-saving medical treatment from U.S. medical personnel. He was then taken to Bagram Air Force Base where he was held and interrogated.

3. The Canadian government became aware of the Respondent’s detention Bagram at an early date, and made representations on his behalf to the U.S. government. In particular, the Canadian government immediately requested consular access and asked “United States intelligence contacts” that he not be transferred to GTMO.
 The U.S. denied this request for consular access, and transferred the Respondent to GTMO on October 28, 2002.

A. The Legal Regime at Guantánamo Bay and Resulting Litigation

4. GTMO comprises 45 square miles of land and water along the southeast coast of Cuba, pursuant to a 1903 Lease Agreement executed with the newly independent Republic of Cuba in the aftermath of the Spanish-American War. Article III of the lease agreement “recognizes the continuance of the ultimate sovereignty of the Republic of Cuba” but also states that “the United States shall exercise complete jurisdiction and control over and within said areas”.

5. The regime governing the detention of prisoners in GTMO is rooted in a Military Order of the President of the United States on November 13, 2001, which included the following:

(2) the individual [detainee] shall not be privileged to seek any remedy or maintain any proceeding, directly or indirectly, or to have any such remedy or proceeding sought on the individual's behalf, in (i) any court of the United States, or any State thereof, (ii) any court of any foreign nation, or (iii) any international tribunal.

6. The Presidential Order was followed by a Memorandum from the President dated February 7, 2002, in which the President determined that the Geneva Conventions do not apply to the conflict with Al Qaeda in Afghanistan, that Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions does not apply to either Al Qaeda or Taliban detainees, and that all Taliban and Al Qaeda detainees are unlawful combatants and do not qualify as prisoners of war under Article 4.

7. In its June 28, 2004, decision in Rasul v. Bush, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the detainees in GTMO had to that point in time been unlawfully deprived of their statutory right to bring applications for habeas corpus in the U.S. federal courts. The Presidential Order purporting to deny them of this right was therefore illegal.

8. On July 2, 2004, the Respondent through his grandmother as next friend filed a petition for habeas corpus in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia.

9. On July 7, 2004, Deputy Secretary of Defense Paul Wolfowitz issued an Order creating a military tribunal called the Combatant Status Review Tribunal (“CSRT”) to review the status of each detainee in GTMO. The detainees before the CSRTs are not accorded any right to counsel. Formal rules of evidence do not apply, and there is a presumption in favour of the government's previous conclusion that a detainee is in fact an “enemy combatant”. The detainee is not permitted access to the classified evidence relied upon to support detention.

10. The Respondent’s case came before a CSRT on September 7, 2004. The Respondent was not permitted to meet with legal counsel at any time prior to this hearing. The CSRT affirmed the previous determination that the Respondent was an “enemy combatant”. The Respondent elected not to participate in this hearing. In reaching its decision, the CSRT relied exclusively upon classified evidence which the Respondent was not permitted to see or comment upon.
 The evidence relied upon by the CSRT in ordering the Respondent’s detention included statements elicited from him when he was being subjected to a sleep deprivation program colloquially known as the “frequent flyer program”.

11. The Respondent’s habeas corpus petition was consolidated for hearing with a number of similar claims, and on January 31, 2005, Judge Joyce Hens Green held that the CSRT procedures violate the due process clause of the Fifth Amendment due to their failure to provide the detainees with access to the evidence relied upon, their failure the permit the assistance of counsel, their reliance upon evidence possibly obtained through torture, and an overly broad definition of “enemy combatant”.

12. On November 7, 2005, the Respondent was first charged with offences before a military commission convened at GTMO.
 In its June 26, 2006, decision in Hamdan v. Rumsfeld, the Supreme Court of the United States held that this regime violated Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions as incorporated by the Uniform Code of Military Justice in that it violated the detainees’ right to be tried by a “regularly constituted court affording all the judicial guarantees which are recognized as indispensable by civilized peoples.”

13. In response to Hamdan, Congress enacted the Military Commissions Act of 2006 (“MCA”), which purported to strip all courts of the United States of any jurisdiction to hear applications for habeas corpus over detainees in GTMO.
 On April 5, 2007, new charges were sworn against the Respondent under the MCA. These charges were then referred by the Convening Authority as non-capital on April 24, 2007.
 

14. In its June 12, 2008, decision in Boumediene v. Bush, the Supreme Court of the United States held that the habeas stripping provisions of the MCA are contrary to the Suspension Clause of the U.S. Constitution.
 
B. The Respondent’s Torture at Bagram

15. The undisputed evidence before the Court is that the Respondent was severely tortured at Bagram during the months following his capture. This abuse occurred when he was 15-16 and recovering from life-threatening injuries. This treatment included shackling his hands and feet in unnecessary and painful ways, denying him pain medication during lengthy daytime interrogation sessions, forcing him to sit up when the wounds in his chest required him to remain laying down, physically pulling him off his stretcher onto the floor; covering his head with a bag while dogs barked in his face, throwing cold water on him, forcing him to stand for hours on end with his hands tied to a door frame above his head, forcing him to carry heavy buckets of water to aggravate the pain from his wounds, threatening to rape him, forcing him to urinate on himself, and shining extremely bright lights in his wounded eyes. These tactics subsided as Mr. Khadr began to give answers his interrogators sought.

16. Since the date of the Respondent’s original complaint, evidence corroborating the commission of his abuse at Bagram has emerged. In particular, the Respondent’s lead interrogator at Bagram “Sgt. C” was later convicted for beating another prisoner, Dilawar, to death. Several other soldiers were also charged in relation to the death of Dilawar, some of whom pleaded guilty or were convicted at trial. Evidence respecting the details of the Dilawar investigation, including U.S. government documents and verbal admissions respecting the interrogation policies and practices which prevailed at Bagram are contained in the Oscar-winning documentary “Taxi to the Dark Side”, now before this Court.

17. Shortly following the Respondents’ filings in the present proceedings, the CBC aired a documentary entitled United States of America v. Omar Khadr in which Damien Corsetti, one of the Respondent’s U.S. military interrogators at Bagram stated:
CORSETTI: In hindsight now I can look at that and be like yeah, it was torture, it was torture to, to make somebody uncomfortable, to put them in physical agony with the intent, with the intent of extracting information is torture.

[…]

CORSETTI: You know you would see their facial features poking through the front of the bag but what would go even further than that, some people would saturate them which made it very difficult to breathe and then they would put them under the lamps which would then heat it up and it just, it made it very difficult to breathe.  All of it, the water boarding and, and all that stuff, it all goes along the same lines, you’re, you’re simulating asphyxiation to them and it puts them in a panic.

[…]

CORSETTI: And I remember I went down and saw Begg and was like Begg man, I’m sorry, there’s nothing I can do about this and he just looked at me and goes, you know the Nazis used to do stuff like this and I said yeah, yeah I’m sorry.

[…]

CORSETTI: The worst thing we did to him psychologically, I think, was the sleep deprivation cycles that we put him through.  Um, Geneva Convention says that they need four hours of uninterrupted rest a day.  That doesn’t mean they need to be, that they necessarily, we interpreted that it doesn’t need to be four consecutive hours, it can be fifteen minutes here, thirty minutes here.  We also said that it doesn’t need to, doesn’t need to be four hours of them having their eyes closed, it needs to be four hours of them being left alone.

INTERVIEWER: What, what would the prisoner be like after a couple of weeks of that?

CORSETTI: They were worthless. I mean you’d go in there and talk to ‘em and you know, some of them would be talking to dead family members, you know, they were.

C. The Respondent’s Torture at GTMO

18.  At GTMO the Respondent was subjected to “walling”, meaning that he was repeatedly pressed against a wall until he passed out, shackled in painful positions for hours at a time, isolated for many months at a time, exposed to extreme temperatures, threatened with sexual violence, repeatedly picked up and dropped on the floor while shackled, forced to urinate on himself, used as a human mop to clean up the mess and then denied a change of clothing, caused severe pain through pressure points, and “moved around” pursuant to the “frequent flyer program”.

19. The Respondent was first permitted to meet with his U.S. legal counsel, Prof. Muneer Ahmad, in November, 2004. During these initial visits the Respondent disclosed that he had been abused and tortured. A detailed summary of these revelations was prepared and made the subject of an official complaint.

20. The Respondent’s complaint resulted in an investigation, which was terminated for lack of substantiation in October 2006, notwithstanding that the investigation had revealed that interrogation techniques such as those described by the Respondent were standard practice at Bagram and that Sgt. C had been convicted for prisoner abuse.

21. The Respondent’s complaints of abuse in GTMO are corroborated by independent evidence. These include the release of policy documents and legal memoranda from U.S. officials authorizing the use of certain “enhanced interrogation techniques” such as those described by the Respondent.

22. In his decision of August 8, 2005, Von Finckenstein J. held that Prof. Ahmad’s evidence and the ACLU documents respecting approved interrogation techniques established that “Conditions at Guantánamo Bay do not meet Charter standards”.

23. The Department of Defense Report of April 1, 2005, entitled Investigation into FBI Allegations of Detainee Abuse at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba Detention Facility confirms the implementation of the “frequent flyer program” beginning sometime in 2003. The report also states that “Documentation on one detainee indicated that he was subjected to this practice as recently as March 2004.”

D. The Canadian Interrogations of the Respondent in GTMO
24. The meetings which occurred between Canadian officials and the Respondent may be divided into two distinct categories: intelligence interrogations and welfare visits. It should be noted that the interrogations relied upon by both the Respondent and O’Reilly J. are the intelligence interrogations. The welfare visits are of at best marginal relevance to this appeal and were only briefly alluded to by O’Reilly J.

25. Prior to the laying of the original charges against the Respondent, and in violation of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations,
 the U.S. prohibited consular visits from Canada.
 In the words of one Canadian official, “consular visits were a non-starter”.
 However, during this period, the U.S. was “very eager”
 to have Canadian officials interrogate the Respondent “for intelligence and law enforcement purposes”.
 Canada was also advised that these interrogations would be “scrutinized very closely” to ensure that they were not disguised consular visits.
 These interrogations were conducted by officials from CSIS and the “Foreign Intelligence Division” of DFAIT in February and September of 2003, when the Respondent was 16, and in March of 2004, when he was 17.
26. When the decision was made to conduct the intelligence interrogations, CSIS was aware of the human rights concerns that had been raised in relation to the GTMO detention regime.
 In particular, CSIS knew that at this time “it would be virtually impossible for a lawyer to get into Guantanamo Bay”.
 Canadian officials were also aware that “As a combatant, he is being treated like any other detainee. He is being given no special status as a minor”.
 They were also aware of the manner in which the information gleaned from the interrogations would be shared with the U.S., and that criminal prosecution was a possibility.

27. At paragraphs 7, 20 and 21, the Crown quotes selections from several reports in an attempt to show that the Respondent was actually well-treated in GTMO and in good health. But the evidence pertaining to the intelligence interrogations tells a different story. The video of February 14, 2003, shows the Applicant pleading with the CSIS agents to protect him from the Americans, and repeatedly stating that he had been tortured. Much of the video of this date consists of the Applicant weeping and calling for his mother.
 The report prepared by the U.S. Air Force Office of Special Investigations states:

The interrogators questioned KHADR concerning his change in demeanor. KHADR said he was “scared” to say something. He then asked his interrogators, “promise you’ll protect me from the Americans”. KHADR also stated he had been tortured by the Americans in Baghram. KHADR said everything he had provided the previous day was a lie. He stated all the information provided in his previous interviews was said only due to “torture”. His interrogators questioned him concerning who he may have spoken to the previous night in his cell. KHADR denied that he talked to anyone and denied that anyone coached him or told him what to say. He covered his eyes and began to cry heavily… KHADR removed his shirt to show the interviewers the wounds on his back and stomach. KHADR stated, “I lost my eyes”, indicating that when he was shot, it affected his vision. KHADR put his head back in his hands and cried heavily.

[…]

At this point, KHADR’s demeanor started to change. He stated he was afraid of torture by the United States. He denied killing anyone. The Canadian interrogator began to get more confrontational and stated that Canada cannot do anything for him. KHADR began to cry and was crying when the interrogators left.

28. At paragraph 19, the Crown states that the purpose of the welfare visits was to assess the Respondent’s well-being. While this may be true, the intelligence interrogations were conducted for a very different purpose. Among other things, the interrogators questioned the Respondent about the central events at issue in his prosecution:

KHADR was in Logar, Afghanistan when he was captured. He was staying with “bad people”. They were “bad” because they were “killing Americans”. KHADR denied training with mines to kill Americans. He was going to attack the Northern Alliance. KHADR’s father dropped him off at the house because it was safe for him to travel with his father. His father told him he would be back for him. At first KHADR said all the people in the house were Afghanis. He then stated there were two Arabs in the group. It was the Arabs who told KHADR and the Afghanis to fight to the death. The Arabs shot the Americans, then the Americans shot back. KHADR did not want to fight, “I had no choice”.

29. In March of 2004, James Gould, an official with DFAIT’s Foreign Intelligence Division named attended at GTMO for further interviews. Prior to his meeting, this official was advised by a U.S. official that the Respondent had been subjected to a sleep deprivation program known as the “frequent flyer program” in order to “make him more amenable and willing to talk”. At this time, the Respondent was 17. A report of this visit states:

6. In an effort to make him more amenable and willing to talk, [redacted] has placed Umar on the “frequent flyer program.” for three weeks prior to Mr. Gould’s visit, Umar has not been permitted more than three hours in any one location. At three hours intervals he is moved to another cell block, thus denying him uninterrupted sleep and a continued change of neighbours. He will soon be placed in isolation for up to three weeks and then he will be interviewed again…

30. The product of the Canadian intelligence interrogations was shared with the U.S. The interrogations of February, 2003, were conducted in a room equipped with several hidden cameras.
 The interrogation of March, 2004, was also monitored by closed-circuit television and contained a two-way mirror.
 U.S. officials monitored and reviewed videos of the interrogations and prepared their own written reports from them, which reports are now in the hands of the prosecutors in the military commission proceedings.
 Under the “relaxed’ rules of evidence under both the pre-Hamdan military commissions regime,
 and the current Military Commissions Act,
 these statements are potentially admissible as evidence notwithstanding the oppressive circumstances under which they were obtained.

31. Additionally, CSIS provided copies of their own summaries of the interviews to the U.S.
 Reports of the interrogations were also shared with the RCMP.

32. The Canadian interrogations were halted by the issuance of an interim injunction by Von Finckenstein J. of the Federal Court on August 8, 2005, following a contested hearing.

33. In its May 23, 2008, decision in Canada (Justice) v. Khadr, the Supreme Court of Canada held that “By making the product of its interviews of Mr. Khadr available to U.S. authorities, Canada participated in a process that was contrary to Canada’s international human rights obligations.”
 Consequently, the exceptional rule previously established in Hape applied,
 and the Charter followed the Canadians to GTMO. However, the Court did not finally determine whether the Crown’s participation in the interrogations constituted a violation of the Charter as distinguished from international law, since this determination was unnecessary to its decision.
 The Court was content to find that a Charter violation was perfected years later when the Crown refused the Respondent’s demand for disclosure.
 As a remedy, the Crown was required to disclose (i) all records in any form of the interviews conducted by Canadian officials with Mr. Khadr, and (ii) records of any information given to U.S. authorities as a direct consequence of Canada’s having interviewed him.
 The Court also directed that the documents be reviewed pursuant to s. 38 ff. of the Canada Evidence Act.

34. On June 25, 2008, Mr. Justice Mosley of the Federal Court released his Reasons for Order and Order in the s. 38 proceedings directed by the Supreme Court of Canada. In this decision, Mosley J. ordered the release of the documents now before this Court regarding the intelligence interrogations. With respect to the “frequent flyer program”. Mosley J. held:

[88] The practice described to the Canadian official in March 2004 was, in my view, a breach of international human rights law respecting the treatment of detainees under UNCAT and the 1949 Geneva Conventions. Canada became implicated in the violation when the DFAIT official was provided with the redacted information and chose to proceed with the interview.

35. The Crown did not appeal Mosley J.’s decision of June 25, 2008.

E. The Respondents’ Policy and Reasons
36. President Obama has ordered the closure of the GTMO detention facility by no later than January of 2010.
 In particular, the U.S. State Department has been tasked with the responsibility of relocating prisoners to other countries.
 During the Bush administration, Australia, Denmark, France, Germany, Belgium, Russia, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom all secured the repatriation of their nationals.
 In his decision of June 25, 2008, Mosley J. noted that “it is equally clear that the US authorities were interested in having Canada consider whether Khadr could be prosecuted here and provided details about the evidence against him to Canadian officials for that purpose.”

37. Many specific demands have been made to the Appellants to request the Respondent’s repatriation. These demands have been made by the Respondent’s Canadian counsel,
 the Respondent’s U.S. counsel,
 a collection of former Parliamentarians, law professors and NGO’s,
 Amnesty International,
 and the Hon. Stéphane Dion,
 among others. The Crown’s Ministers have also been called upon to state their reasons for their policy not to demand the Respondent’s repatriation before the Senate and the House of Commons on  many occasions. These Ministers have been consistent in their reasons, and have always emphasized that they have “received assurances that Mr. Khadr is being treated humanely”.

38. On June 12, 2008, the Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs and International Development issued its “Report 7 – Omar Khadr”. The Committee’s recommendations included “that the Government of Canada demand Omar Khadr’s release from US custody at Guantanamo Bay to the custody of Canadian law enforcement officials as soon as practical.” The Report also included a “dissenting opinion” by the government which stated that “Mr. Khadr could become a litmus test on Canada’s commitment to impeding global terrorism and the results of our actions today could result in consequences that are not in the long-term interest of the country.”

39. On July 10, 2008, the Respondent the Prime Minister of Canada was called upon by members of the media to respond to the information revealed in the documents ordered released by Mosley J., and asked what effect, if any, this information had on the Crown’s policies respecting the Respondent:

Reporter #1:
You have been at times a vocal critic of the human rights uh records of other countries on the world stage, uh in particular China, but now we learn that Canadian officials knew that that Omar Khadr was tortured.  Just wondering how you square those two ideas and, and also, why Canadian officials didn’t do anything earlier.

Prime Minister Harper:
Well, we always act as a government on the basis of our legal advice and international obligations. The previous government took a whole range, all of the information into account when they made the decision on how to proceed with the Khadr case several years ago. As you know, Mr. Khadr is charged with extremely serious crimes, there is a legal process underway in by American authorities and Canada, as I say Canada has sought assurances that Mr. Khadr under our government will be treated humanely and that we are monitoring those legal processes very carefully and we think that that is the best way to go given all of the facts.

[…]

Reporter #2 [Translation]:
Mr. Prime Minister I know that you have said that the government, previous government had considered everything when they, when they made a decision but we learned today that the Canadian government knew that uh Mr. Khadr had been tortured but had been, had not been treated humanely as your government is saying.  How do you react to that and will you be asking for the repatriation of M. Khadr to Canada?

Prime Minister Harper [Translation]:
The answer is no, as I said the former government, in our government with the notification of the Minister of Justice had considered all these issues and the situation remains the same.  Mr. Khadr has been charged with serious crimes and there is a, a due diligence and due process being done in the States and these arguments we have to follow in this procedure we do not, frank--, honestly we don’t have a real alternative procedure not to get to the truth concerning those charges and we consider that this procedure should be going ahead so then we are looking at this procedure seriously and we keep on looking for ins--, insurances of good treatment of Mr. Khadr.

Part II: ISSUES

40. The Respondent respectfully disagrees with the Crown’s characterization of the issues raised in this appeal, and submits that this appeal raises the following issues:

(1) Did the learned Chambers Justice commit reversible error in finding that the Crown’s participation in the GTMO interrogation process constituted a violation of the Respondent’s Charter rights?

(2) Did the learned Chambers Justice commit reversible error in finding that the Crown’s participation in the GTMO interrogation process was not demonstrably justified by a limit prescribed by law under s. 1 of the Charter?

(3) Did the learned Chambers Justice abuse the discretion conferred upon him under s. 24(1) of the Charter in ordering the Crown to request that the Respondent be returned to Canada as soon as practicable ?

Part III: ARGUMENT

A. The Crown’s Characterization of O’Reilly J.’s “Duty to Protect”

41. The bulk of the Crown’s written arguments address a decision that was not rendered. In particular, from paragraphs 37 to 52, the Crown argues that O’Reilly J. erred in finding a generalized duty under s. 7 for the government to protect persons whose human rights are being violated by foreign governments. However, as a review of his Reasons reveals, O’Reilly J. actually found that the Crown’s duty is the product of its own violations of the Respondent’s rights.
 It is submitted that the existence of a generalized “duty to protect” in the sense contemplated by the Crown’s MFL is of little relevance to this appeal.

B. Jurisdiction

42. It is well established that the Courts of Canada may review decisions by the Executive pertaining to foreign relations where those decisions affect rights protected by the Charter.

C. The Crown’s Participation in the GTMO Interrogation Process
(i) Standard of Review
43. O’Reilly J.’s judgment is based upon his finding that the Crown was “knowingly implicated”
 in human rights abuses committed against the Respondent. These findings are, at best, findings of mixed fact and law, and as such are subject to the “palpable and overriding error” standard in Housen v. Nikolaisen. Whether O’Reilly J. erred in interpreting s. 7 of the Charter is a question of law subject to the correctness standard.

(ii) Applicable Provisions of the Charter

44. In the Court below, the Respondent invoked ss. 6, 7, 12 and 24(1) of the Charter. O’Reilly J. chose to determine the issues before him on the basis of s. 7. However, contrary to the Crown’s assertion at paragraph 53, O’Reilly J. did not reject the Respondent’s arguments based upon ss. 6 and 12 of the Charter. Rather, O’Reilly J. stated was that it was “unnecessary to deal with” these arguments given his conclusions on s. 7.
 

45. Of course, the Respondent agrees with the O’Reilly J. that the Crown’s conduct constitutes a violation of s. 7. However, the Respondent submits that the conduct at issue in this case is more appropriately assessed under s. 12, being the provision of the Charter which specifically addresses the treatment of prisoners.

46. Sections 8 to 14 of the Charter constitute illustrative and specific deprivations of life, liberty, and/or security of the person which also constitute violations of the more generalized s. 7.
 The Supreme Court of Canada has often emphasized that where one of the specific provisions in ss. 8 to 14 of the Charter is applicable to the conduct at issue, a reviewing Court ought to apply that specific provision in favour to the more generalized s. 7.
 

47. Contrary to the Crown’s submissions at paragraph 57, the Supreme Court of Canada has not “stated on a number of occasions that section 7 is the appropriate Charter provision under which to address questions of rights violations by other governments and their officials in situations where there may be links to Canadian actions.” In Burns and Suresh, the Supreme Court actually held that since the circumstances in those cases dealt only with “potential consequences”
 and not actual consequences, s. 7 rather than s. 12 was the applicable provision. Unlike these cases, the present case deals with the actual infliction of cruel and unusual treatment, and Canada’s participation in that treatment. 
(iii) The Crown Participated in Violations of the Respondent’s Human Rights
48. O’Reilly J. held that the Crown “implicitly condoned the imposition of sleep deprivation techniques on [the Respondent], having carried out interviews knowing that he had been subjected to them”,
 and that “the necessary degree of participation is found in Canada's interrogation of Mr. Khadr knowing that he had been subjected to treatment that offended international human rights norms to which Canada had specifically committed itself.”
 These findings are amply supported by the evidence before him.
49. At paragraphs 56 to 68 of its MFL, the Crown argues that its agents did not breach s. 12 since their conduct was “too causally remote from the mistreatment by U.S. officials”,
 and since “Mere knowledge does not constitute participation.”
 In support of this position, the Crown argues at some length that the participation of its agents in the GTMO interrogations did not violate international law. However, this same issue has been finally resolved against the Crown in two previous judicial proceedings. Hence, the Crown’s relitigation of this issue in the present proceeding is doubly prohibited by the issue estoppel doctrine.

50. Firstly, this issue was previously decided by the Supreme Court of Canada. In reference to this finding, the Crown argues at paragraph 66 of its MFL that O’Reilly J.’s conclusion respecting Canada’s participation in the GTMO interrogations is “fundamentally wrong” since the Supreme Court found that conducting interviews in a violative process may not constitute participation in that process. What the Supreme Court actually said was:

[27] By making the product of its interviews of Mr. Khadr available to U.S. authorities, Canada participated in a process that was contrary to Canada’s international human rights obligations. Merely conducting interviews with a Canadian citizen held abroad under a violative process may not constitute participation in that process. Indeed, it may often be essential that Canadian officials interview citizens being held by violative regimes to provide assistance to them. Nor is it necessary to conclude that handing over the fruits of the interviews in this case to U.S. officials constituted a breach of Mr. Khadr’s s. 7 rights. It suffices to note that at the time Canada handed over the fruits of the interviews to U.S. officials, it was bound by the Charter, because at that point it became a participant in a process that violated Canada’s international obligations.

51. As the above passage confirms, the Supreme Court did state in obiter that consular or welfare visits in the context of a violative process which are intended to “provide assistance” will probably not constitute participation in that process. But the salient point for the purposes of the present case is that the Court determined that the intelligence interrogations “violated Canada’s international obligations.” The Crown’s present arguments constitute an impermissible attempt to refute this finding.

52. The Supreme Court in Khadr also identified some of the specific international law obligations violated by Canada at GTMO. Firstly, since the Respondent was being held in communicado at the time, the Crown’s participation violated international treaties protecting a detainee’s right to habeas corpus. Secondly, since the fruit of the interrogations was made available for the purposes of the “illegal”
 military commissions system struck down in Hamdan, Canada had violated Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions.

53. Further, the Supreme Court was not aware of the fact that the Crown’s interrogations had been “facilitated” by the infliction of the “frequent flyer program”, since the Crown was then suppressing this information from the Court’s attention. As Mosley J. later held, this treatment constituted a violation of the UNCAT and Geneva Conventions, and “Canada became implicated in the violation when the DFAIT official was provided with the redacted information and chose to proceed with the interview.”
 As O’Reilly J. held, the addition of this circumstance provides an even stronger basis for the Supreme Court’s conclusion that Canada violated international law by participating in the interrogations:

52 Obviously, if the mere questioning of Mr. Khadr involved Canada in a process that violates our international human rights obligations, knowing involvement in the mistreatment of Mr. Khadr is an even more compelling basis on which to find that the Charter applied to Canadian officials at Guantánamo Bay.

54. In light of the above, it is submitted that the argument that the Crown did not violate international law by interrogating the Respondent in GTMO must be rejected. Even if it could be said that the Crown may litigate this same issue for the third time, O’Reilly J.’s conclusions cannot be said to be incorrect or unreasonable.

(iv) State Responsibility for Internationally Wrongful Acts
55. At paragraph 62, the Crown cites the International Law Commission’s Articles on State Responsibility
 as applied in the opinion of the International Court of Justice in Bosnia and Herzegovina v. Serbia and Montenegro,
 in support of its argument that the Crown is not responsible for the Respondent’s mistreatment. Article 16 of these Articles states:
Article 16

Aid or assistance in the commission of an internationally wrongful act

A State which aids or assists another State in the commission of an internationally wrongful act by the latter is internationally responsible for doing so if: 

(a)  That State does so with knowledge of the circumstances of the  internationally wrongful act; and 

(b)  The act would be internationally wrongful if committed by that State.

56. The Respondent agrees that the above Article 16 governs the issue of State responsibility for internationally wrongful acts, and as such is of assistance in interpreting the Charter.
 In Bosnia and Herzegovina v. Serbia and Montenegro, it was recognized that Article 16 reflects customary international law.

57. At paragraph 62, the Crown points out that the elements of Article 16 must be proven “beyond any doubt”. Hence, in Bosnia and Herzegovina v. Serbia and Montenegro, cited by the Crown at footnote 69, the Court dismissed a charge of genocide against Serbia and Montenegro since it had not been proven that the government knew that the resources it was providing to certain militia groups were being used to commit genocidal acts.
58. In contrast, the evidence in the present case proves “beyond any doubt” that the Crown’s agents knew that they were being enlisted in a process of “enhanced interrogation”. O’Reilly J.’s factual finding that “Canadian officials were knowingly implicated in the imposition of sleep deprivation techniques on Mr. Khadr as a means of making him more willing to provide intelligence”
 was supported by the evidence and by previous judicial findings.

59. Additionally, the co-operation of foreign governments in the GTMO “enhanced interrogation” process has been the subject of study and opinion by United Nations’ Special Rapporteur, Martin Scheinin in his Report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms while countering terrorism” of February 4, 2009, where the following was stated:
2. Participation in interrogations 
54. The Special Rapporteur is concerned about the participation of foreign agents in the interrogation of persons held in situations that violate international human rights standards. The difference that some Governments make between intelligence and law enforcement personnel is of limited relevance, as the active participation through the sending of interrogators or questions, or even the mere presence of intelligence personnel at an interview with a person who is being held in places where his rights are violated, can be reasonably understood as implicitly condoning such practices. The continuous engagement and presence of foreign officials has in some instances constituted a form of encouragement or even support. In the view of the Special Rapporteur, the responsibility of the receiving State may be triggered also by even more passive and geographically distant forms of creating a demand for intelligence information obtained through internationally wrongful means. Therefore, the Special Rapporteur believes that the active or passive participation by States in the interrogation of persons held by another State constitutes an internationally wrongful act if the State knew or ought to have known that the person was facing a real risk of torture or other prohibited treatment, including arbitrary detention.

60. The Special Rapporteur cited Principle 21(1) of the United Nations’ Body of Principles for the Protection of All Persons under Any Form of Detention or Imprisonment: 
1. It shall be prohibited to take undue advantage of the situation of a detained or imprisoned person for the purpose of compelling him to confess, to incriminate himself otherwise or to testify against any other person.

61. In Mohamed v. Secretary of State, it was held that the degree of the U.K. government’s co-operation with the U.S. in interrogating GTMO detainee Binyam Mohamed while he was being held in communicado in Pakistan “was far beyond that of a bystander or witness” and in fact “facilitated” the U.S.’s conduct, triggering a common law duty of disclosure.

62. A host of international instruments confirm that the violations considered by the Special Rapporteur and in Mohamed are intensified in the present case given that the Respondent was under 18 at the time of the interviews. For example, in February of 2007, Canada committed itself
 to the The Paris Commitments to protect children from unlawful recruitment or use by armed forces or armed groups
 and the Principles and Guidelines on Children Associated With Armed Forces or Armed Groups. The latter Principles provide:

Interviewing children

7.25 Children may need to be interviewed for a number of reasons; to determine whether they meet the criteria for eligibility for release programmes, to establish information about their current circumstances and future plans, to facilitate family tracing, for explicitly therapeutic reasons or for forensic purposes. Interviews should never be conducted to collect information for military purposes. 
7.26 Measures should be taken to ensure the safety of the information gathered and a document control mechanism should be established. The safety of the interviewee should be considered paramount in information management mechanisms. Information collected from interviews should remain the property of the collecting organisation.

63. Contrary to the above principles, the Crown conducted its interrogations of the Respondent for “intelligence and law enforcement purposes”, and CSIS did not seek any assurances regarding what could be done with the information derived from the interviews.

64. In light of the above, the Respondent submits that O’Reilly J. did not err in finding that Canada aided and assisted the U.S. in inflicting cruel and unusual treatment upon the Respondent, and as such is “internationally responsible” for that wrongful conduct.

(v) The Treatment in which  the Crown Participated was “Cruel and Unusual Treatment”
65. Footnote 6 of Justice Hugo Black's decision in Ashcraft v. Tennessee states: “It has been known since 1500 at least that deprivation of sleep is the most effective torture and certain to produce any confession desired.”
 In Suresh, the Supreme Court stated:

When Canada adopted the Charter in 1982, it affirmed the opposition of the Canadian people to government-sanctioned torture by proscribing cruel and unusual treatment or punishment in s. 12.  A punishment is cruel and unusual if it “is so excessive as to outrage standards of decency”: see R. v. Smith, [1987] 1 S.C.R. 1045, at pp. 1072-73, per Lamer J. (as he then was).  It must be so inherently repugnant that it could never be an appropriate punishment, however egregious the offence.  Torture falls into this category.  The prospect of torture induces fear and its consequences may be devastating, irreversible, indeed, fatal. Torture may be meted out indiscriminately or arbitrarily for no particular offence.  Torture has as its end the denial of a person’s humanity; this end is outside the legitimate domain of a criminal justice system: see, generally, E. Scarry, The Body in Pain: The Making and Unmaking of the World (1985), at pp. 27-59. Torture is an instrument of terror and not of justice.  As Lamer J. stated in Smith, supra, at pp. 1073-74, “some punishments or treatments will always be grossly disproportionate and will always outrage our standards of decency: for example, the infliction of corporal punishment”.  As such, torture is seen in Canada as fundamentally unjust.

66. In the present case, the Crown does not attempt to defend the Respondent’s treatment at GTMO as anything less than cruel and unusual  treatment. The Crown refers to the “frequent flyer program” as “mistreatment”, and states that “Canada does not condone mistreatment of the Respondent.”

67. Mosley J.’s conclusion that the infliction of sleep deprivation as an interrogation technique is a violation of the UNCAT
 and the Geneva Conventions
 is supported by the case of Public Committee Against Torture in Israel v. Israel, cited by Mosley J. at paragraph 87 of his decision.
 Further, this conclusion is supported by the findings of the five special mandate holders of the United Nations in their joint report of February 15, 2006, respecting the situation of detainees in GTMO, who concluded that sleep deprivation of the nature described to Mr. Gould constituted torture for the purposes of the UNCAT.

(vi) Violations of Principles of Fundamental Justice
68. Although much emphasis has been placed upon the imposition of the “frequent flyer program”, the other unlawful features of the Respondent’s detention at the time of the interrogations are equally relevant to the s. 12 issue. In Charkaoui, the Court stated:

The s. 12 issue of cruel and unusual treatment is intertwined with s. 7 considerations, since the indefiniteness of detention, as well as the psychological stress it may cause, is related to the mechanisms available to the detainee to regain liberty… Denying the means required by the principles of fundamental justice to challenge a detention may render the detention arbitrarily indefinite and support the argument that it is cruel or unusual.
 

69. Conversely, in Burns, the Court rejected the applicability of s. 12, but emphasized that “s. 12 informs the interpretation of s. 7” and proceeded to assess the s. 7 issue in light of s. 12 principles.
 Consequently, whether this case is to be approached on the basis of s. 7 or s. 12, the fact that the Crown’s interrogations were conducted within a regime characterized by violations of the principles of fundamental justice is highly relevant.

70. At paragraphs 49-52, the Crown argues that O’Reilly J. erred in relying upon a principle of fundamental justice which was defined by reference to the “circumstances of the Respondent”, since this standard is overly vague and contextual. Again, this argument is premised upon a mischaracterization of the judgment being appealed, since the specific principles upon were expressly identified. The principles identified by O’Reilly J. require States to ensure that no one, particularly children, shall be subjected to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment; ensure that no evidence derived from torture or other cruel and unusual punishment be used as evidence in a legal proceeding; separate children deprived of liberty from adults; take all appropriate measures to promote physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration of a child victim; treat every child alleged to have infringed the penal law in a manner consistent with the promotion of the child's sense of dignity and worth; ensure the physical and psychosocial rehabilitation and social reintegration of children who are victims of armed conflict.

71. Article 2(1) of the CRC proves that “States Parties shall respect and ensure the rights set forth in the present Convention to each child within their jurisdiction…”
 Similarly Article 6(1) of the CSP provides that “Each State Party shall take all necessary legal, administrative and other measures to ensure the effective implementation and enforcement of the provisions of the present Protocol within its jurisdiction.”
 In the United Nations’ Bulletin of Human Rights 91/2, it is emphasized that “The verb used to describe the obligation (“to ensure”) is very strong and encompasses both passive and active (including pro-active) obligations.”

72. Article 40(1) of the CRC imposes specific obligations on States Parties in relation to children who are “alleged as, accused of or recognized as having infringed the penal law”. By interrogating the Applicant the Canadian officials violated the Applicant’s right to legal assistance under Article 40(2)(b)(ii) CRC and 14(3)(d) International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (“ICCPR”), his right not to be compelled to give testimony or confess guilt under Article 40(2)(b)(iv) CRC and 14(3)(g) ICCPR.

73. Further, the Canadian interviews constituted participation in, and tacit approval of, the Applicant’s in communicado detention, contrary to the CRC, ICCPR, and a host of other international human rights instruments.
 The obligation to respect the right against arbitrary detention under the ICCPR is one that is so fundamental that it is non-derogable, even during a time of public emergency which threatens the life of the nation.
 Even in matters of national security, the suspension of habeas corpus is impermissible.

74. Under international law, Canada’s jurisdiction in this context is “not delimited by the place where the violation occurred”. Instead, a person is within or subject to the jurisdiction of the state even if he or she is outside the state’s territory where: (a) the person is a national of that state; and (b) the state through its agents takes positive actions which directly violate the person’s treaty-guaranteed rights.
 Canada’s obligations under the ICCPR and the CRC were triggered when it chose to interrogate the Applicant, a Canadian child, at GTMO, and sharing the product of those interrogations with the U.S.

75. As O’Reilly J. noted, Canada’s obligations under the CSP include an obligation to “co-operate” in “rehabilitation and social reintegration” of victims of acts contrary to the CSP:

Article 7

1. States Parties shall cooperate in the implementation of the present Protocol, including in the prevention of any activity contrary thereto and in the rehabilitation and social reintegration of persons who are victims of acts contrary thereto, including through technical cooperation and financial assistance. Such assistance and cooperation will be undertaken in consultation with the States Parties concerned and the relevant international organizations.

76. The Committee on the Rights of the Child has emphasized that the specific developmental, emotional and psychological differences between children and adults demand a separate juvenile justice system, including a different approach to detention and incarceration, a lesser standard of culpability, and different consequences and treatment upon a finding of culpability.
 In its 2008 decision in R. v. D.B., the Supreme Court of Canada affirmed that this “principle of diminished moral culpability” is a principle of fundamental justice enshrined in s. 7 of the Charter.

77. Although the U.S. joins Somalia as the only two nations not to have ratified the CRC, the U.S. has long agreed that juveniles under the age of 18 must not be used in armed combat.  It has further acknowledged that if juveniles are nonetheless so used, they must be demobilized, rehabilitated, and reintegrated into society—not treated as adults, detained with other adult combatants, and subjected to adult trials for war crimes. The U.S. reaffirmed these principles in 2002—after the September 11, 2001 attacks—when it signed the CSP.  As a result, after the Respondent was captured, the U.S. should have placed him in an appropriate juvenile detention facility away from adult combatants (as it did with most juvenile detainees at GTMO),
 and entered him into a rehabilitation and reintegration program. The Respondent’s age at the time of his alleged offenses should also have discouraged the U.S. from subjecting him to any sort of trial for purported war crimes.
 If the Government had nonetheless decided that such a trial was appropriate, it should have asked Congress to authorize a tribunal equipped to conduct trial in a manner appropriate to the Respondent’s juvenile status, and to impose sentences appropriate for juveniles, consistent with the goals of rehabilitation and reintegration—as was done, for example, in the Statute of the Special Court for Sierra Leone,
 the U.S.’s Juvenile Delinquency Act, and Canada’s Youth Criminal Justice Act.

78. Instead, the Respondent has, for nearly seven years, been detained as an adult. He has never been purposely segregated from the adult population at GTMO, but rather has been kept in detention together with adult detainees.
 Far from being designed to rehabilitate the Respondent and reintegrate him into society, the U.S. has subjected him to harsh interrogation techniques and other treatment wholly inappropriate for juveniles, and risked radicalizing him by subjecting him to the influence of hardened adult members of terrorist organizations.
 The proceedings before the MCA military commission are, similarly, adult proceedings that make no provision for the Respondent’s juvenile status (and, as a result, threaten to cause him further psychological harm). Moreover, the Respondent’s military commission has no obligation, and may not even have the authority, to impose a juvenile-appropriate sentence focused on rehabilitation and reintegration. In short, the Respondent’s treatment has flagrantly violated all applicable norms and laws regarding the treatment of juveniles in detention. 
D. Section 6 of the Charter

79. The Respondent also submits that the Crown’s refusal to request repatriation, in the special circumstances of this case, constitutes a violation of s. 6 of the Charter. Unlike the Kozarov
  case cited by the Crown at paragraph 54, the U.S. is actively seeking to repatriate prisoners in GTMO. This case therefore more closely resembles Van Vlymen,
 where the Crown was guilty of unlawfully delaying the prisoner’s transfer from the U.S., which transfer had previously been consented to by the U.S.

E. Section 1

80. Section 1 is wholly inapplicable to this case since Canada’s participation in the GTMO interrogation process was not “prescribed by law”. It is well established that Charter breaches committed by Canadian officials acting under broad grants of statutory power – such as police officers exercising their general authority to investigate crime – do not satisfy this threshold requirement.
 Hence, if a police officer interrogates a subject in violation of s. 7 of the Charter, s. 1 is not available to justify the breach.

81. Further, and in any event, the onus of proving that a limit on a right or freedom guaranteed by the Charter is reasonable and demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society rests upon the Crown.
 As a review of the empty footnotes to the Crown’s paragraphs 69 to 74 confirms, the Crown has led no evidence in support of any s. 1 claim. Consequently, O’Reilly J.’s conclusion that the Crown “did not offer any basis for concluding that the violation of Mr. Khadr's rights was justified under s. 1 of the Charter”,
 cannot be said to be incorrect or unreasonable.

F. Bad Faith

82. The Crown’s reasons for refusing to request the Respondent’s repatriation have consistently included the fact that it had received assurances that the Respondent was being treated humanely. While making these statements, the Crown was specifically aware that the Respondent was not being treated humanely, and was actively attempting to suppress this information from public view. These statements therefore reflect bad faith in the administrative law sense, necessitating a quashing of the decision.

G. Remedy

(i) Standard of Review
83. Section 24(1) of the Charter reads:

24. (1) Anyone whose rights or freedoms, as guaranteed by this Charter, have been infringed or denied may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction to obtain such remedy as the court considers appropriate and just in the circumstances.

84. Where the appeal involves a remedy for a Charter breach, deference must be shown to the trial judge's choice of remedy. An appellate court should only intervene where the trial judge has committed an error of law or principle. In Doucet-Boudreau v. Nova Scotia (Minister of Education), the Supreme Court of Canada held:

Section 24(1) of the Charter requires that courts issue effective, responsive remedies that guarantee full and meaningful protection of Charter rights and freedoms. The meaningful protection of Charter rights, and in particular the enforcement of s. 23 rights, may in some cases require the introduction of novel remedies. A superior court may craft any remedy that it considers appropriate and just in the circumstances. In doing so, courts should be mindful of their roles as constitutional arbiters and the limits of their institutional capacities. Reviewing courts, for their part, must show considerable deference to trial judges' choice of remedy, and should refrain from using hindsight to perfect a remedy. A reviewing court should only interfere where the trial judge has committed an error of law or principle.

85. In Mills v. The Queen, the scope of authority conferred by s. 24(1) was described in the following terms:

What remedies are available when an application under s.24(1) of the Charter succeeds? Section 24(1) again is silent on the question. It merely provides that the appellant may obtain such remedy as the court considers “appropriate and just in the circumstances”. It is difficult to imagine language which could give the court a wider and less fettered discretion. It is impossible to reduce this wide discretion to some sort of binding formula for general application in all cases, and it is not for appellate courts to pre-empt or cut down this wide discretion.

(ii) O’Reilly J. did not Commit an Abuse of Discretion 

86. The Respondent submits that O’Reilly J. did not abuse the broad discretion conferred upon him by s. 24(1) in granting the remedy that he did. O’Reilly J. noted that the Supreme Court effectively required the Crown to seek diplomatic assurances from the U.S. in Burns, and that the request for the return of a Canadian citizen is at the lower end of the spectrum for Canadian intervention. Greater interventions were required of the Crown in the recent cases of Smith
 and Abdelrazik.

87. The Crown argues that there is no obligation under international law for a State to seek diplomatic protection on behalf of its citizens, and that consequently, no such obligation can arise under s. 7. Firstly, the Crown’s obligation to request the Respondent’s return is not solely the product of s. 7, but also of s. 24(1). As O’Reilly J. pointed out, the Crown can clearly be required to take positive action as a remedy under s. 24(1).

88. Secondly, the Respondent submits that the Crown’s analysis of a State’s obligation to protect its citizens omits reference to the key authorities on point, and in particular does not address State obligations arising from violations of jus cogens obligations such as the prohibition against torture. As Thomas J. pointed out in Mohamed,
 such an obligation was recognized in the Advisory Opinion of the International Court of Justice on the Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory of July 9, 2004 which includes the following explanation of the consequences of a violation of a rule of jus cogens:

159. Given the character and the importance of the rights and oblige tions involved, the Court is of the view that al1 States are under an obligation not to recognize the illegal situation resulting from the construction of the wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, including in and around East Jerusalem. They are also under an obligation not to render aid or assistance in maintaining the situation created by such construction. It is also for al1 States, while respecting the United Nations Charter and international law, to see to it that any impediment, resulting from the construction of the wall, to the exercise by the Palestinian people of its right to self-determination is brought to an end. In addition, all the States parties to the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War of 12 August 1949 are under an obligation, while respecting the United Nations Charter and international law, to ensure compliance by Israel with international humanitarian law as embodied in that Convention.

89. Thomas J. in Mohamed also emphasized that the Court in Al Rawi did not consider Article 41(1) of the International Law Commission’s Draft Articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts which provides that in respect of serious breaches of peremptory norms “States shall co-operate to bring an end through lawful means any such breach” and that “no State shall… render assistance in maintaining that situation.”
 In The International Law Commission’s Articles on State Responsibility: Introduction, Test and Commentaries, the following is stated:

What is called for in the case of serious breaches is a joint and coordinated effort by all States to counteract the effects of these breaches. It may be open to question whether general international law at present prescribes a positive duty of cooperation, and paragraph 1 in this respect may reflect the progressive development of international law. But in fact such cooperation, especially in the framework of international organizations, is carried out already in response to the gravest breaches of international law and it is often the only way of providing an effective remedy. Paragraph 1 seeks to strengthen existing mechanisms of cooperation, on the basis that all States are called upon to make an appropriate response to the serious breaches referred to in article 40.

90. Also, the authorities cited by the Crown respecting State responsibility emphasize that, whether or not such a right exists under international law, it may well exist under domestic or municipal law.
 An example is provided by the decision of the Constitutional Court of South Africa in Kaunda v The President of the Republic of South Africa.
 
91. Another helpful, albeit non-binding authority is the decision of the Human Rights Chamber for Bosnia and Herzegovina in Boudella et al. v. Bosnia and Herzegovina, where the applicants had been arrested by local authorities and then handed over to U.S. forces, and then “rendited” to GTMO without further legal process. The Chamber found this “handing-over” to constitute a violation of the European Convention on Human Rights and ordered the Government “to use diplomatic channels in order to protect the basic rights of the applicants.”

Part IV: ORDER SOUGHT 

92. The Respondent requests that this appeal be dismissed with costs.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 10th day of June, 2009.

__________________________

_________________________

Dennis Edney




Nathan J. Whitling

Counsel for the Respondent


Counsel for the Respondent
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